

CATEGORY: BEST PRACTICE STATEMENT

The use of misoprostol in obstetrics and gynaecology

This statement has been developed and reviewed by the Women's Health Committee and approved by the RANZCOG Board and Council.

A list of Women's Health Committee Members can be found in Appendix A. Disclosure statements have been received from all members of this committee.

Disclaimer This information is intended to provide general advice to practitioners. This information should not be relied on as a substitute for proper assessment with respect to the particular circumstances of each case and the needs of any patient. This document reflects emerging clinical and scientific advances as of the date issued and is subject to change. The document has been prepared having regard to general circumstances.

First endorsed by RANZCOG: November 2001

Current: November 2021 Review due: November 2026

Objectives: To provide advice on the use of misoprostol in obstetrics and gynaecology.

Target audience: All health practitioners providing Obstetrical and Gynaecological 23 care.

Values: The evidence was reviewed by the Women's Health Committee (RANZCOG), and applied to local factors relating to Australia and New Zealand.

Background: This statement was first developed by Women's Health Committee in November 2001 and last reviewed in November 2019.

Funding: The development and review of this statement was funded by RANZCOG.



Contents

1.	Plain language summary3				
2.	2. Summary of recommendations	3			
3.	3. Introduction	3			
4.	I. Discussion and recommendations	3			
	4.1 Use in first and second trimesters	3			
	4.2 Use in third trimester	4			
	4.2.1 Induction of labour	4			
	4.2.2 Third stage management	5			
	4.2.3 Use in Gynaecology	5			
	4.2.4 Registration status of misoprostol	5			
5.	5. Conclusion	6			
6.	S. References	6			
7.	7. Other suggested reading	8			
8.	3. Links to other College statements	9			
Αp	Appendices	10			
	Appendix A Women's Health Committee Membership	10			
	Appendix B Overview of the development and review process for this statement				
	Appendix C Full Disclaimer				



1. Plain language summary

Misoprostol is a medication that is available in Australia and New Zealand. It is used as part of the treatment for miscarriage (early pregnancy loss) and stillbirth, for abortion, and may also be used for the control of excessive bleeding after birth. Misoprostol is also used for induction of labour in New Zealand. When used in these settings misoprostol is safe and effective, and can provide important benefits for women. These should be discussed with the doctor providing care.

2. Summary of recommendations

Recommendation 1	Grade
Misoprostol is appropriate for use, and demonstrates advantages over available alternatives, in the medical management of miscarriage and in combination with mifepristone for abortion in the first trimester.	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 2	Grade
Under current TGA guidelines in Australia misoprostol is registered for use in a composite pack with mifepristone for abortion up to 63 days. There is no approved use beyond 63 days gestation or for other obstetric or gynaecological procedures. Where practical any "off-label" use should occur after obtaining and documenting informed consent from the woman.	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 3	Grade
Misoprostol is used in combination with mifepristone for abortion and management of some miscarriages. Detailed information about this indication can be found in the College statement <i>The use of mifepristone for medical termination of pregnancy (C-Gyn 21).</i>	Consensus-based recommendation

3. Introduction

There is considerable evidence in published studies about the use of misoprostol in obstetrics. There are in excess of 200 randomised controlled trials included in Cochrane Systematic Reviews, involving more than 35,000 women where misoprostol has been administered for obstetric or gynaecological indications.

4. Discussion and recommendations

Recommendation 1	Grade
Misoprostol is appropriate for use, and demonstrates advantages over available alternatives,	Consensus-based
in the medical management of miscarriage and in combination with mifepristone for abortion	recommendation
in the first trimester.	

4.1 Use in first and second trimesters

In general, the evidence demonstrates advantages of misoprostol over available alternatives for use in medical management of miscarriage. The advantages are that it is at least as effective as alternatives, has fewer side effects, is more practical to use and is cheaper. Compared to surgical evacuation of the uterus, misoprostol is associated with a slightly higher rate of retained products of conception, vomiting and



diarrhoea, but patient satisfaction is similar. There is no clear evidence that any route of administration or dosage regimen is superior to others $^{\perp}$.

Misoprostol is safe and effective for management of second trimester fetal death in utero. There is now clear evidence that the addition of mifepristone to misoprostol reduces the time to delivery in women with fetal death in utero between 14 and 28 weeks' gestation compared to misoprostol alone².

In 2012 misoprostol was registered in Australia for use orally or buccally in combination with mifepristone for abortion up to 49 days gestation. From February 2015 a composite pack containing both misoprostol and mifepristone was introduced with a new indication of abortion up to 63 days gestation. This has been found to be effective and associated with few side-effects.

The Therapeutic Goods Administration approved product information and evidence based guidelines should be consulted for detailed information about appropriate regimens.³

Misoprostol has been shown to be superior to other methods of cervical preparation for surgical abortion in the first trimester 4 .

4.2 Use in third trimester

4.2.1 Induction of labour⁵⁻¹²

Misoprostol is used extensively in the third trimester in countries other than Australia, including in New Zealand. Advantages include that it is relatively inexpensive, can be stored at room temperature and has a long shelf life. However, in Australia, use of misoprostol is less common after the first trimester and, under current TGA guidelines, the use of misoprostol for abortion after 63 days gestation or for other obstetric or gynaecological procedures is not an approved indication.

There is considerable literature evaluating the use of misoprostol for cervical ripening and induction of labour. Both vaginal and oral administration of misoprostol are effective methods for cervical ripening and for induction of labour. As with other prostaglandins, misoprostol can cause uterine hypertonicity. Misoprostol is an effective uterotonic and can achieve sustained uterine contraction in the third stage.

Misoprostol is a safe and effective method of induction of labour for fetal death in utero or abortion. Dosage should be adjusted according to gestation, presence of uterine scars (including caesarean section), and fetal death, with these factors influencing myometrial responsiveness and the risk of uterine rupture. Uterine rupture may occur with misoprostol induction of labour, as with other uterotonic agents, and its use in women with uterine scars, particularly those with multiple or upper uterine segment scars, should be under close supervision in a facility adequately equipped to manage this rare but serious complication.

The table below suggests a reasonable regimen, but this should be considered a general guide and may require modification depending on other clinical circumstances or local considerations.



Clinical context ¹³⁻¹⁵	Misoprostol dose		Maximal doses
	Initial	Subsequent	before review
Medical abortion 14 to 22 weeks gestation ^a	400 to 800mcg	400mcg 4-hourly	6 doses
Medical abortion 22-27 weeks gestation	400mcg	400mcg 4-hourly	6 doses
Medical abortion 22-27 weeks with prior uterine surgery	200mcg	200mcg 4-hourly	6 doses
Induction of labour from 28 weeks ^b	25 to 100mcg	25 to 100mcg 2- hourly to 6-hourly	24 hours
Induction of labour with a live fetus	25mcg	2hrly	8 doses

^a Consider reducing dose in women with prior uterine surgery after 20 weeks

4.2.2 Third stage management 16-20

There is insufficient evidence to recommend misoprostol over conventional injectable uterotonics in prophylactic management in the third stage of labour, particularly in women considered to be at low risk for severe postpartum haemorrhage.

Misoprostol may be used for the management of postpartum haemorrhage. This is covered in more detail in the College statement Management of Postpartum Haemorrhage (C-Obs 43). FIGO recommends misoprostol for management of PPH in low resource settings due to its low cost and easy storage²¹, however there is insufficient evidence to recommend its use over injectable uterotonics in routine practice in Australia and New Zealand at this stage²².

4.2.3 Use in Gynaecology

Misoprostol administration prior to hysteroscopy has been shown to reduce the need for mechanical dilatation, and reduces the incidence of intra-operative complications (cervical laceration, false-track formation $\frac{23-25}{2}$). Vaginal administration, compared to oral, appears to reduce the time required for the priming to be effective and to reduce gastrointestinal side effects $\frac{26}{2}$.

4.2.4 Registration status of misoprostol

In Australia misoprostol is now only registered for use in obstetrics and gynaecology in a composite pack with Mifepristone and solely for the purpose of abortion up to 63 days gestation.

The use of misoprostol after 63 days gestation or for other obstetric or gynaecological indications is not currently an approved indication.

^b Use lower doses at later gestations, in parous women, and with fetal death in utero. Use only with caution in women with prior uterine surgery and generally not with a live fetus and a uterine scar.



Misoprostol is included in the regimen for early medical abortion in the New Zealand Medsafe datasheet for mifepristone, but misoprostol itself is not registered there for obstetric and gynaecological indications and therefore is used as not an approved indication.

The company which markets the widely used formulation of misoprostol which is registered for gastrointestinal indications has not researched, and does not support, its use in pregnancy, and has not expressed any intention to do so.

4.5 Use in clinical practice

Recommendation 2	Grade
Under current TGA guidelines in Australia misoprostol is registered for use in a composite pack with mifepristone for abortion up to 63 days. There is no approved use beyond 63 days gestation or for other obstetric or gynaecological procedures. Where practical any "off-label" use should occur after obtaining and documenting informed consent from the woman.	Consensus-based recommendation
Recommendation 3	Grade
Misoprostol is used in combination with mifepristone for abortion and management of some miscarriages. Detailed information about this indication can be found in the College statement <i>The use of mifepristone for medical termination of pregnancy (C-Gyn 21).</i>	Consensus-based recommendation

Particular caution is recommended with the use of misoprostol for cervical ripening and induction of labour. The potential risks and benefits in each individual case should be carefully evaluated and attention paid to the published information regarding minimisation of dosage. As with all prostaglandin preparations, caution is recommended with the use of misoprostol in the presence of a uterine scar.

5. Conclusion

There is reasonable evidence from peer reviewed literature attesting to the efficacy of misoprostol as a therapeutic agent in treating a number of conditions in Obstetrics and Gynaecology. Practitioners should be aware that when they prescribe it, they will generally be using it 'off label' and, apart from in time-critical emergency settings, should only use it in clinical situations after obtaining and documenting informed consent from the woman.

The references which follow include information about dosage regimens evaluated.

6. References

- 1. Kim C, Barnard S, Neilson JP, Hickey M, Vazquez JC, Dou L. Medical treatments for incomplete miscarriage. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2017(1).
- 2. Allanson ER, Copson S, Spilsbury K, Criddle S, Jennings B, Doherty DA, et al. Pretreatment With Mifepristone Compared With Misoprostol Alone for Delivery After Fetal Death Between 14 and 28 Weeks of Gestation: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Obstetrics and gynecology. 2021;137(5):801-9.
- 3. (TGA) TGA. Product Information GyMiso misoprostol 200 microgram tablet. 2012.
- 4. Kapp N, Lohr PA, Ngo TD, Hayes JL. Cervical preparation for first trimester surgical abortion. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2010(2).
- 5. Kerr RS, Kumar N, Williams MJ, Cuthbert A, Aflaifel N, Haas DM, et al. Low-dose oral misoprostol for induction of labour. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2021;6(6):Cd014484.



- 6. Gattás D, de Amorim MMR, Feitosa FEL, da Silva-Junior JR, Ribeiro LCG, Souza GFA, et al. Misoprostol administered sublingually at a dose of 12.5 µg versus vaginally at a dose of 25 µg for the induction of full-term labor: a randomized controlled trial. Reprod Health. 2020;17(1):47.
- 7. Young DC, Delaney T, Armson BA, Fanning C. Oral misoprostol, low dose vaginal misoprostol, and vaginal dinoprostone for labor induction: Randomized controlled trial. PLoS One. 2020;15(1):e0227245.
- 8. Kashanian M, Eshraghi N, Rahimi M, Sheikhansari N, Javanmanesh F. Efficacy comparison of titrated oral solution of misoprostol and intravenous oxytocin on labour induction in women with full-term pregnancy. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2020;40(1):20-4.
- 9. Haas DM, Daggy J, Flannery KM, Dorr ML, Bonsack C, Bhamidipalli SS, et al. A comparison of vaginal versus buccal misoprostol for cervical ripening in women for labor induction at term (the IMPROVE trial): a triple-masked randomized controlled trial. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2019;221(3):259.e1-.e16.
- 10. Aduloju OP, Ipinnimo OM, Aduloju T. Oral misoprostol for induction of labor at term: a randomized controlled trial of hourly titrated and 2 hourly static oral misoprostol solution. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2021;34(4):493-9.
- 11. Saccone G, Della Corte L, Maruotti GM, Quist-Nelson J, Raffone A, De Vivo V, et al. Induction of labor at full-term in pregnant women with uncomplicated singleton pregnancy: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2019;98(8):958-66.
- 12. De Bonrostro Torralba C, Tejero Cabrejas EL, Envid Lázaro BM, Franco Royo MJ, Roca Arquillué M, Campillos Maza JM. Low-dose vaginal misoprostol vs vaginal dinoprostone insert for induction of labor beyond 41st week: A randomized trial. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2019;98(7):913-9.
- 13. Mid trimester pregnancy loss (including abortion) Clinical Practice Guideline. King Edward Memorial Hospital.
- 14. Late Intrauterine Fetal Death and Stillbirth: Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; 2010 [24/08/2021]. Green Top Guideline No. 55. First edition:[Available from: https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/gtg 55.pdf.
- 15. Induction of Labour in Aotearoa New Zealand: A clinical practice guideline 2019 Wellington: Ministry of Health; 2021. Available from:
- https://www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/publications/induction of labour in aotearoa new ze aland a clinical practice guideline.pdf.
- 16. Dodd JM, Crowther CA, Robinson JS. Oral misoprostol for induction of labour at term: randomised controlled trial. Bmj. 2006;332(7540):509-13.
- 17. Hofmeyr GJ, Alfirevic Z, Matonhodze B, Brocklehurst P, Campbell E, Nikodem VC. Titrated oral misoprostol solution for induction of labour: a multi-centre, randomised trial. BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology. 2001;108(9):952-9.
- 18. Dallenbach P, Boulvain M, Viardot C, Irion O. Oral misoprostol or vaginal dinoprostone for labor induction: a randomized controlled trial. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology. 2003;188(1):162-7.
- 19. Moodley J, Venkatachalam S, Songca P. Misoprostol for cervical ripening at and near term--a comparative study. S Afr Med J. 2003;93(5):371-4.
- 20. Muzonzini G, Hofmeyr GJ. Buccal or sublingual misoprostol for cervical ripening and induction of labour. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2004(4):CD004221.
- 21. Misoprostol for the treatment of postpartum haemorrhage in low resource settings: International Confederation of Midwives (ICM) and International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO); 2014. Available from: https://www.figo.org/sites/default/files/2020-05/6.%20FIGO%20-%20Misoprostol%20for%20the%20treatment%20of%20postpartum%20haemorrhage%20in%20low%20resource%20settings.pdf.
- 22. Mousa HA, Alfirevic Z. Treatment for primary postpartum haemorrhage. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2007(1).



- 23. Al-Fozan H, Firwana B, Al Kadri H, Hassan S, Tulandi T. Preoperative ripening of the cervix before operative hysteroscopy. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2015(4).
- 24. De Silva PM, Wilson L, Carnegy A, Smith PP, Clark TJ. Cervical dilatation and preparation prior to outpatient hysteroscopy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology. 2021;128(7):1112-23.
- 25. Hua Y, Zhang W, Hu X, Yang A, Zhu X. The use of misoprostol for cervical priming prior to hysteroscopy: a systematic review and analysis. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2016;10:2789-801.
- 26. Abdelhakim AM, Gadallah AH, Abbas AM. Efficacy and safety of oral vs vaginal misoprostol for cervical priming before hysteroscopy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. European journal of obstetrics, gynecology, and reproductive biology. 2019;243:111-9.

7. Other suggested reading

National Consensus Guideline for Treatment of Postpartum Haemorrhage http://www.health.govt.nz/publication/national-consensus-guideline-treatment-postpartum-haemorrhage

New Zealand Medicines and Medical Devices Safety Authority (MEDSAFE) Data Sheet – MIFEGYNE Mifepristone micronised 200 mg tablets. June 2012. Available at: http://www.medsafe.govt.nz/profs/datasheet/m/Mifegynetab.pdf

Council of Australian Therapeutic Advisory Groups. Rethinking medicines decision-making in Australian hospitals: Guiding principles for the quality use of off-label medicines. November 2013. Available at: http://www.catag.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2012/08/OKA9963-CATAG-Rethinking-Medicines-Decision-Making-final1.pdf

Day R. Off-label prescribing. Australian Prescriber 2013;36:182-3 Available at: http://www.australianprescriber.com/magazine/36/6/182/3

Madlen Gazarian, Maria Kelly, John R McPhee, Linda V Graudins, Robyn L Ward and Terence J Campbell. Off-label use of medicines: concensus recommendations for evaluating appropriateness. The Medical Journal of Australia 2006;185(10):544-548 Available at: https://www.mja.com.au/journal/2006/185/10/label-use-medicines-consensus-recommendations-evaluating-appropriateness

Alfirevic Z. Oral misoprostol for induction of labour. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006 Issue 2. Art. No.: CD001338. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001338.

Chong Y-S, Su L-L & Arulkumaran, S. Misoprostol: A Quarter Century of Use, Abuse and Creative Misuse. CME Review Article, Obstetrical and Gynaecological Survey 2004; 59 (2): 128-140.

Dodd JM, Crowther C Induction of labour for women with a previous caesarean birth: a systematic review of the literature. ANZJOG 2004; 44 (5): 392-395.

Dodd JM, Crowther CA. Elective repeat caesarean section versus induction of labour for women with a previous caesarean birth. Review The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006 Issue 4. Art. No.: CD004906. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004906.

Dodd JM, Crowther CA. Misoprostol for induction of labour to terminate pregnancy in the second or third trimester for women with a fetal anomaly or after intrauterine fetal death. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2010, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD004901. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004901.pub2.



Dodd JM, Crowther CA. Misoprostol versus cervagem for the induction of labour to terminate pregnancy in the second and third trimester for women with a fetal anomaly or after intra-uterine fetal death: A systematic review. Eur J Obstet Gyn Reprod Biol 2005.

Goldberg AB, Greenberg MB, Darney PD. Drug Therapy: Misoprostol and Pregnancy. New England Journal of Medicine 2001; 344: 38-47 (95 references).

Hofmeyr GJ, Gülmezoglu AM. Vaginal misoprostol for cervical ripening and induction of labour. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2003, Issue 1 Art. No.: CD000941. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000941.

Kulier R, Gülmezoglu AM, Hofmeyr GJ, Cheng LN, Campana A. Medical methods for first trimester abortion. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2004, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD002855. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002855.pub3.

Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. The Care of Women Requesting Induced Abortion. Evidence-based Clinical Guideline Number 7. RCOG Press November 2011. Available at: http://www.rcog.org.uk/files/rcog-corp/Abortion%20guideline_web_1.pdf

Weeks A, Fiala C, Safar P. Misoprostol and the debate over off-label (not an approved indication) drug use. BJOG 2005 Mar; 112 (3): 269-72.

8. Links to other College statements

Evidence-based Medicine, Obstetrics and Gynaecology (C-Gen 15)

The use of mifepristone for medical termination of pregnancy (C-Gyn 21)

Birth after previous Caesarean Section (C-Obs 38)

Management of postpartum haemorrhage (C-Obs 43)



Appendices

Appendix A Women's Health Committee Membership

Name	Position on Committee
Professor Yee Leung	Chair and Board Member
Dr Gillian Gibson	Deputy Chair, Gynaecology
Dr Scott White	Deputy Chair, Obstetrics and
	Subspecialties Representative
Dr Jared Watts	Member and EAC Representative
Dr Kristy Milward	Member and Councillor
Dr Will Milford	Member and Councillor
Dr Frank O'Keeffe	Member and Councillor
Professor Sue Walker	Member
Dr Roy Watson	Member and Councillor
Dr Susan Fleming	Member and Councillor
Dr Sue Belgrave	Member and Councillor
Dr Marilyn Clarke	ATSI Representative
Associate Professor Kirsten Black	Member
Dr Thangeswaran Rudra	Member
Dr Nisha Khot	Member and SIMG Representative
Dr Judith Gardiner	Diplomate Representative
Dr Angela Brown	Midwifery Representative, Australia
Ms Adrienne Priday	Midwifery Representative, New Zealand
Ms Ann Jorgensen	Community Representative
Dr Ashleigh Seiler	Trainee Representative
Dr Leigh Duncan	Maori Representative
Prof Caroline De Costa	Co-opted member (ANZJOG member)
Dr Christine Sammartino	Observer

Appendix B Overview of the development and review process for this statement

i. Steps in developing and updating this statement

This statement was originally developed in July 1992 and was most recently reviewed in November 2021. The Women's Health Committee carried out the following steps in reviewing this statement:

- Declarations of interest were sought from all members prior to reviewing this statement.
- Structured clinical questions were developed and agreed upon.
- An updated literature search to answer the clinical questions was undertaken.
- At the September 2021 teleconference, the existing consensus-based recommendations were reviewed and updated (where appropriate) based on the available body of evidence and clinical expertise. Recommendations were graded as set out below in Appendix B part iii)
- ii. Declaration of interest process and management

Declaring interests is essential in order to prevent any potential conflict between the private interests of members, and their duties as part of the Women's Health Committee.

A declaration of interest form specific to guidelines and statements was developed by RANZCOG and approved by the RANZCOG Board in September 2012. The Women's Health Committee members were



required to declare their relevant interests in writing on this form prior to participating in the review of this statement.

Members were required to update their information as soon as they become aware of any changes to their interests and there was also a standing agenda item at each meeting where declarations of interest were called for and recorded as part of the meeting minutes.

There were no significant real or perceived conflicts of interest that required management during the process of updating this statement.

iii. Grading of recommendations

Each recommendation in this College statement is given an overall grade as per the table below, based on the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Levels of Evidence and Grades of Recommendations for Developers of Guidelines. Where no robust evidence was available but there was sufficient consensus within the Women's Health Committee, consensus-based recommendations were developed or existing ones updated and are identifiable as such. Consensus-based recommendations were agreed to by the entire committee. Good Practice Notes are highlighted throughout and provide practical guidance to facilitate implementation. These were also developed through consensus of the entire committee.

Recommendation category		Description
Evidence-based	А	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice
	В	Body of evidence can be trusted to guide practice in
		most situations
	С	Body of evidence provides some support for
		recommendation(s) but care should be taken in its
		application
	D	The body of evidence is weak and the recommendation
		must be applied with caution
Consensus-based		Recommendation based on clinical opinion and
		expertise as insufficient evidence available
Good Practice Note		Practical advice and information based on clinical
		opinion and expertise



Appendix C Full Disclaimer

Purpose

This Statement has been developed to provide general advice to practitioners about women's health issues concerning use of misoprostol and should not be relied on as a substitute for proper assessment with respect to the particular circumstances of each case and the needs of any person. It is the responsibility of each practitioner to have regard to the particular circumstances of each case. Clinical management should be responsive to the needs of the individual person while using misoprostol and circumstances of each case.

Quality of information

The information available in Use of misoprostol in obstetrics and gynaecology (C-Obs 12) is intended as a guide and provided for information purposes only. The information is based on the Australian/New Zealand context using the best available evidence and information at the time of preparation. While the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RANZCOG) had endeavoured to ensure that information is accurate and current at the time of preparation, it takes no responsibility for matters arising from changed circumstances or information or material that may have become subsequently available. The use of this information is entirely at your own risk and responsibility.

For the avoidance of doubt, the materials were not developed for use by patients, and patients must seek medical advice in relation to any treatment. The material includes the views or recommendations of third parties and does not necessarily reflect the views of RANZCOG or indicate a commitment to a particular course of action.

Third-party sites

Any information linked in this Statement is provided for the user's convenience and does not constitute an endorsement or a recommendation or indicate a commitment to a particular course of action of this information, material, or content unless specifically stated otherwise. RANZCOG disclaims, to the maximum extent permitted by law any responsibility and all liability (including without limitation, liability in negligence) to you or any third party for inaccurate, out of context, incomplete or unavailable information contained on the third- party website, or for whether the information contained on those websites is suitable for your needs or the needs of any third party for all expenses, losses, damages and costs incurred.

Exclusion of liability

The College disclaims, to the maximum extent permitted by law, all responsibility and all liability (including without limitation, liability in negligence) to you or any third party for any loss or damage which may result from your or any third party's use of or reliance of this guideline, including the materials within or referred to throughout this document being in any way inaccurate, out of context, incomplete or unavailable for all expenses, losses, damages, and costs incurred.

Exclusion of warranties

To the maximum extent permitted by law, RANZCOG makes no representation, endorsement or warranty of any kind, expressed or implied in relation to the materials within or referred to throughout this guideline being in any way inaccurate, out of context, incomplete or unavailable for all expenses, losses, damages and costs incurred.

These terms and conditions will be constructed according to and are governed by the laws of Victoria, Australia



Version	Date of Version	Pages revised / Brief Explanation of Revision
v1.1	Nov / 2001	Developed by WHC
v2.1	Nov / 2003	Reviewed by WHC
v3.1	Nov / 2005	Reviewed by Working party (WHC)
v4.1	Nov/2007	Reviewed by WHC
v5.1	Nov/2010	Reviewed by WHC
v6.1	Nov/2012	Reviewed by WHC
v7.1	Mar/2016	Reviewed by Sexual and Reproductive Health Advisory Group

Policy Version:	Version 8.1
Policy Owner:	Women's Health Committee
Policy Approved by:	RANZCOG Council/Board
Review of Policy:	Nov / 2026